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During 2022, the airline industry has begun returning to normality and we have witnessed airlines and
airports around the world recovering from the drastic collapse in demand caused by the COVID-19
pandemic. Passenger numbers have crossed expectations set in the recovery phase of the pandemic and in
some cases surpassed the pre-pandemic passenger numbers. Air Arabia for instance, not only seen its the
full fleet return to operations, but the company also added 10 new aircraft to its fleet during 2022.

Overall, Air Arabia Group achieved a set of record financial and operational results, with an all-time high
revenue crossing AED5.2 billion, and the group’s net profit exceeding AED1.22 billion.

Despite the strong set of results achieved in 2022, the aviation industry is still facing many geo-political and
economic challenges, such as the serious supply chain challenge. There is a noticeable scarcity in technical
labor across the sector, shortage in spare parts, longer wait time for specialized maintenance, and even the
unavailability of aircraft.

Thanks to the unique business model that Air Arabia operates, the carrier enjoys operational flexibility
across all its hubs and can achieve the most efficient utilization of the group’s assets. It is through the agility
of the business model, cost control and the strength of its management team that this record results were
achieved, something that makes the entire Air Arabia family, from the board of directors to all employees,
extremely proud.

Air Arabia Group remains also committed to a very important aspect of how business is conducted, and it is
sustainability practices. The carrier follows a holistic approach to sustainability across all its businesses
which lead to underline why understanding, anticipating, and effectively managing environmental, social
and governance (ESG) matters is critical to delivering on our mission to serve our clients, customers, and
communities. ESG matters are important consideration in how we do business, including our corporate
governance systems that runs at every level in the organization, risk management and methodology to serve
customers and support for local communities. Our main driver is the sustainability and efficiency embedded
in the culture and management of the airline. Equally important, we believe that the core items that are
critical of our ESG approach are practiced across the organization through efficient operations and our
investment in environment friendly practices. For Air Arabia, this means we are leveraging our business and
policy expertise, and presence to help drive an inclusive recovery, expand, and accelerate sustainability.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Air Arabia PJSC (the “Company”), and its
subsidiaries (collectively refetred to as the “Group”), which comptise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, and the consolidated

. statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all matetial respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2022, and its consolidated financial
petformance and its cash flows for the yeat then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our tesponsibilities
under those standards are further desctribed in the “Auditor’s Regponsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with Code of
Ethics as issued by International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the requirements of the IESBA Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and approptiate to provide a basis for our opinion.

® 2023 Grant Thornton UAE - All rights reserved. Grant Thornton UAE represents all legal licenses under which Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting grantthornton.ae
Limited Corporation, A British Virgin Islands (“BVI") registered Branch, operate in the UAE, These licenses include the Abu D habi, Dubai and Sharjah :
based branches— Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting Limited —registered with the Abu Dhabi Global Market — Grant Thoraton Audit and Accounting

Limited Corporation BVI - registered with the Dubal Financial Services Authority.

“Grant Thornton” refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients

and/for refers to one or more.member firms, as the context reguires. GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each

member firm Is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member

firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another's acts or omissions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, wete of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
mattet below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

i) Measurement of aircraft assets

As disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group holds, as at December 31, 2022,
aircraft assets with a net carrying value of AED 4,579 million. As explained in Note 4, the Group's
accounting policy is to measure its aircraft assets at depreciated historical cost less impairment, if any. These
aircraft assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life, to an estimated residual
value at the end of its useful economic life. The estimation of residual value is a key management judgment
in the application of the Group's accounting policy on depreciation and, thetefore, any changes to residual
value will directly impact the depreciation chatge for the current and future years. Management also needs
to consider if there are any impairment indicators such as the detetioration in current or forecast trade
activity, the incurrence of losses or other factors indicating that the assets may be impaired.

If there are impairment indicators, management needs to perform an impairment test and write down the
value of assets whete the recoverable amount is lower than the catrying value.

We have performed the following audit procedutes:

® We have assessed management’s basis of estimating the residual values and depreciation rates of aitcraft
assets and tested these to supporting information for reasonableness, such as any publicly or other
available information on estimated residual values and compared the depteciation rates to the rates
applied by other airline companies;

® We have assessed whether there are any impairment indicators in respect of the aircraft assets; and

®  We have assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosute in these respects.

ii) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue from various soutces, notably sale of passenger aitline seats, cargo, baggage
capacity and other ancillary services. Passenger tickets sold can be of diffetent types depending on the
conditions of sale and type of fare purchased. Revenue from passenger and catgo is deferred and classified
as a liability on the consolidated statement of financial position until the passenger or freight is lifted (i.e.
service provided), at which time revenue is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. This
recognition principle requires the Group to develop assumptions to determine when to recognise revenue
in respect of un-availed services relating to tickets not lifted at the anticipated date of travel.

The accounting for passenger revenue is susceptible to management override of conttols through the
recotding of manual journal entries in the accounting records, the override of IT systems to accelerate
tevenue recognition, or manipulation of inputs used to calculate revenue recorded in tespect of unused
revenue documents.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)

ii) Revenue recognition (continued)

We have performed the following audit procedures:

® We have evaluated the Group’s control environment and the application controls relating to the
underlying systems associated with the revenue streams. In particular, we have considered whether the
Gtoup's controls relating to revenue are propetly designed and implemented to ensure that those
systems wete accurately capturing the relevant data such as date of sale, date of the provision of the
service to the customers and the sale amount;

® We have checked the reasonableness of the Group’s accounting policy with respect to recognition of
revenue in the period in which the setvices were provided to the customers;

® We have reviewed management’s judgement and assumptions undetlying the estimates of when to
tecognise revenue in respect of setvices;

® We have checked the reasonableness of the Group’s accounting policy with tespect to recognition of
revenue for expired tickets;

® For passenger revenue, we have performed analytical procedures by comparing the passenger revenue
for 2022 with the passenger revenue for 2021 and 2020, and understood the reasons for the variance
taking into consideration key performance indicators for 2022, 2021 and 2020,

® For catgo revenue, we have tested the revenue per ton carried for 2021 and developed an expectation
for 2022 based on the tonnage carried, and compared the results with the cargo revenue recognised
and undetstood the teasons for the variance;

® We have also undertook other substantive audit procedures to cotroborate our findings in respect of
the audit tests above; and

® We have assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure on tevenue recognition in the consolidated
financial statements.

iif) Accounting for fuel hedge positions

The Group is significantly exposed to fluctuations in the price of jet fuel and manages this risk through
detivative instruments to hedge its cash flows. The Group accounts for these hedge instruments in
accordance with IFRS 9 which requires, amongst other things, that the Group establish a risk management
framework that outlines a policy for the Group to conclude whethet its hedging positions are effective ot
ineffective, at the date of their inception and at each reporting date. The Group has established controls
around taking hedge positions and its risk management framework and policies.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the hedge instruments are recognised in the
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income until the forecasted transaction occurs, whilst any
ineffective portion is recognised ditectly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Judgment is
exercised in arriving at this conclusion. As of December 31, 2022, the total fair value of the Group's cash
flow hedge instruments, obtained from counterparties, is a net asset of AED 373 million as disclosed in
Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)

iii) Accounting for fuel hedge positions (continued)

We have petformed the following audit procedutes:

® We have evaluated the design and implementation of the Group’s controls over taking hedge positions
and application of its policies. This included testing the reasonableness of the Group's hedge positions
at the date of inception and at each reporting date, along with Group's accounting for its hedge
position;

® We have also involved our valuation specialist for assessing the Group's hedge accounting, and for
testing hedge effectiveness on sample basis; and

® We have assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosute in these tespects.

iv) Valuation of aircraft maintenance obligations

Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements reflected maintenance liabilities of AED 1,758 million as
at December 31, 2022. The accounting for maintenance obligations, including the end of lease hand-back
requirements, is subject to management assumptions. These assumptions include estimating maintenance
accrual for major inspections and overhauls based on technical evaluation of the number of hours flown
by each engine, aitframe checks at fixed intervals and utilization cycles of landing gears, life limited parts
and auxiliaty power units. It also includes the cost of performing the required maintenance wotk at that
future return date of leased aircrafts. There is a risk of maintenance and hand-back obligations included in
lease agreements being accounted for inapproptiately.

We have performed the following audit procedures:

® We have made enquiries of management to establish if there were any new lease or maintenance
contracts entered during the year;

® For the ongoing maintenance wotk under flying hour agreements, we have confirmed that the expenses
were recognised at the contractual flying hour rates and checked a sample of the actual flying hours to
the Group’s operating system to confirm that the expenses recognised were complete and accurate;

® We have validated that the cost drivers of major types of maintenance accrual for appropriateness and
reasonableness;

® e have verified the utilization of maintenance accrual during the year for routine and non-routine
expenses;

® We have validated the main reason for change in the maintenance acctual balance as at yeat end;

® We have evaluated the design and implementation of the Group’s controls over the maintenance
accrual made duting the year; and

® We have performed additional substantive audit procedures to cotroborate our findings in respect of
the audit tests above.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comptises the information
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our Auditor’s
Report thereon. We have obtained the Board of Directots’ repott ptior to the date of our Auditor’s Repott,
and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Annual Report after the date of our Auditor’s Report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and
accordingly, we do not exptess any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is matetially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appeats to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that
we have obtained prior to the date of auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a matetial misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Management and Those Chatged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of
the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, and for such intetnal control as management determines is
necessaty to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In prepating the consolidated financial statements, management is tesponsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as 2 going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters telated to going concetn and using
the going concetn basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, ot has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can atise from fraud or error and are considered matetial if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also;

® Identify and assess the tisks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedutes responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis fot our opinion. The tisk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from ettot, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mistepresentations, or the ovetride of internal
control;

e  Obtain an undérstanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that ate appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosutes made by management;

® Conclude on the approptiateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a2 matetial uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that 2 material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditot’s repott to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosutes are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events ot conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern;

® Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements tepresent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and

®  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely tesponsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards.



&2 Grant Thornton

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Auditor’s Respousibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these mattets in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication,

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthetmore, as required by the Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, we report that for the year ended
December 31, 2022:

vi)

vii)

We have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of
our audit;

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the
applicable provisions of the Fedetal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021;

The Group has maintained proper books of account;

The financial information included in the Directors’ report, in so far as it relates to these consolidated
financial statements, is consistent with the books of account of the Group;

As disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has purchased new shares
during the year ended December 31, 2022;

Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements discloses telated party transactions, and the terms
under which they were conducted;

Based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention which
causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the financial year ended December 31,
2022 any of the applicable provisions Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, or of the Company’s
Articles of Association, which would materially affect its activities or the Group’s financial position as
at December 31, 2022; and

viii) There have been no social contributions during the year.

T a
| i s g,
L r\
” /2 2\
0. Bow: 1620 =

£
{ . DUBAMIAE. ¢
- :;.

GRANT THORNTON ;
Fatouk Mohamed < PO
Registration No. 86 ~ate

Dubai, United Arab Emirates

13

FEB 2073



Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at December 31, 2022 L VT
Notes 2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 5 5,402,630 5,868,484
Right-of-use assets 6 645,020 624,390
Advance for new aircraft 7 585,135 381,367
Investment properties 8 149,000 105,970
Net investment in lease 14 91,484 17,406
Intangible assets - 9 1,338,315 1,332,131
Deferted charges P 10 24,628 > 30,965
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 11 43,166 15,556
Investments in associates and joint ventures 12 156,200 177,949
Trade and other receivables 14 369,637 111,257
8,805,215 8,665,475
Current assets
Inventoties 32,747 23,504
Trade and other receivables 14 862,850 739,342
Bank balances and cash 16 4,736,251 3,878,006
5,631,848 4,640,852
TOTAL ASSETS 14,437,063 13,306,327
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 17 4,666,700 4,666,700
Statutory teserve 18 750,668 639,834
General reserve 19 189,666 78,832
Other reserves 379,773 284,741
Retained earnings 1,008,308 404,859
Total equity attributable to the ownets of the Company 6,995,115 6,074,966
Non-controlling interest 520 e
Total equity 6,995,635 6,074,966
Non-curtrent liabilities
Provision for staff termination benefits 20 170,015 144,637
Trade and other payables 21 1,407,366 1,350,039
Bank borrowings 24 30,604 =
Lease liabilities 23 2,126,498 2,584,174
3,734,483 4,078,850
Current liabilities
Deferred income 513,670 492,131
Trade and other payables ‘ 21 2,462,169 1,970,313
Bank botrowings 24 108,881 37,634
Lease liabilities 23 622,225 652,433
3,706,945 3,152,511
Total liabilities 7,441,428 7,231,361
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 14,437,063 13,306,327

These consolidated financial statements wete proved and authortised for issue by the Boatd of Directors on

12 FEB 707) and signed osrthelr b by:
Fa
) 48 o

Chiicman — - " Chief Exgcutive Officer Director of Finance

The accompanying notes from 1 to 39 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Revenue

Direct costs

GROSS PROFIT

Administrative and general expenses

Selling and marketing expenses

Finance income

Finance costs

Share of profit on investments in associates and joint ventures
Other income, net

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED)

Notes

26

27

28

29

30

31

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
5,241,830 3,174,122

(3,810,261)  (2,291,249)
1,431,569 882,873
(286,467) (198,498)

(68,050) (41,420)
88,867 62,882
(115,457) (137,762)
36,231 89,699
135,613 62,153
1,222,306 719,927
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
1,221,786 719,927
520 -
1,222,306 719,927
0.26 0.15

The accompanying notes from 1 to 39 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Note
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Tiems that will never be reclassified subsequently fo profit or loss:
Change in fair value of investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income 11

Itemss that are or may be reclussified subsequently to profit or loss:
Cash flow hedge
Effective pottion of changes in fair value

Total other comprehensive income for the year

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
1,222,306 719,927

(5,236) 8,391
100,268 838,732
95,032 847,123
1,317,338 1,567,050

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
1,316,818 1,567,050

520 -
1,317,338 1,567,050

The accompanying notes from 1 to 39 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended December 31, 2022

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year

Adjustments to reconcile profit to net cash flows:

Depreciation and amortization

Unrealized profit on sale of investment property

Shate of profit on investments in associates and joint ventures
Provision for staff terminal benefits

Gain on derecognition of investment in joint venture

Allowance for expected credit losses for trade and other receivables

Finance income
Finance costs
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital

Charnges in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Deferred income
Cash from operations
Staff terminal benefits paid
Net cash flow from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additional investment in joint ventures

Acquisition of property and equipment

Payments in relation to advances for new aircrafts-net

Increase in deferred charges

Dividends received from investments in associates
and joint ventures

Payments in relation to purchase of investments at
fair value through OCI

Proceeds from disposal of investments at fair value through OCI

Proceeds from disposal of othet investments

Acquisition of intangible assets

Change in fixed and margin deposits

Finance income received

Net cash flow used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid to Owners of the Company
Payments of principle portion of lease liabilities
Net movement on borrowings

Finance costs paid

Net cash flow used in financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Adjustnents for:
Bank balances and cash
Fixed deposits with maturity over 3 months

Notes

5,6,9,10

12
20
25
28

20

17
23

16
16

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
1,221,786 719,927

633,957 620,485
(43,030) s
(36,231) (89,699)
33,737 17,004
(9,839) -
47,344 27,257
(88,867) (62,882)
115,457 137,762
1,874,314 1,369,854
(9,243) 2,064
(94,867) 515,015
404,380 (125,281)
21,538 190,732
2,196,122 1,952,384
(8,359) (3,751)
2,187,763 1,048,633
(25,312) (3,588)
(52,261) (31,376)
(203,768) (21,086)
- (3,935)

81,655 7,995
(32,845) 1
- 3,607

- 50,000

(9,428) (10,366)
(968,055) (296,195)
36,663 37,580

(1,173,350) (267,364)
(396,669) .
(740,042) (627,325)

101,851 (514,314)
(78,129) (106,763)
(,112,991)  (1,248,402)
(98,578) 432,867
1,148,765 715,898
1,050,187 1,148,765
4,736,251 3,878,006

(3,686,064)  (2.729,241)
1,050,187 1,148,765

The accompanying notes from 1 to 39 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

1 Legal status and principal activities

Air Arabia PJSC (the “Company”) was incorporated on June 19, 2007 as a Public Joint Stock Company.
The Company operates in the United Arab Emirates under a trade license issued by the Economic
Development Department of the Government of Shatjah and Air Opetatot’s Cettificate Number AC 2
issued by the General Civil Aviation Authority, United Arab Emirates.

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Dubai Financial Market, United Arab Emirates. The
registered office address is P.O. Box 132, Shatjah, United Atab Emirates.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 include the consolidated
financial performance and position of the Company and its subsidiaties (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

The licensed activities of the Group ate international commercial ait transportation, aircraft trading, aircraft
rental, aircraft spare parts trading, travel and tourist agencies, commetcial brokerage, hotels, hotel apartment
rentals, airline companies’ representative office, passengers transport, catgo services, ait cargo agefts,
documents transfer setvices, aviation training and aircraft repairs and maintenance.

The details of the Group’s ownership in its various subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and their
principal activities ate as follows:

Beneficial Country of
ownership interest operation and
Name 2022 2021  Ownership Principal activities
Subsidiaries
Arabian Management - 100% United Arab Business consultancy services.
Investment FZE(a) Emirates
International Business Company 100%  100% United Arab Dealing in International Business
(FZE) Emirates and shares
Air Arabia Holidays L.L.C 100%  100% United Arab Tour operations
Emirates
Information System Associates FZC 100%  100% United Arab IT services to aviation industry.
Emirates
Action Hospitality 100%  100% United Arab Hospitality services, tourism,
Emirates managing and operating
restaurants and hotels.
COZMO Travel LLC — Sole 100%  100% United Arab Travel and touts, tourism and
proprietorship (formerly known as Emirates cargo services.
COZMO Travel LLC) (b)
Impact Aviation Services Limited (c) 100% - Ireland Management of lease contracts

Subsidiaries of International Business Company (FZE) (sub-subsidiaries)

Olgana Real Estate 100% - United Arab Real Estate Development.
Development L.L.C (d) Emirates

T3 Aviation Academy LLC 100% - United Arab Aviation training services.
(formerly known as Alpha Emirates

Aviation Academy UAE LLC) (&)
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2022

1 Legal status and principal activities (continued)
Beneficial

ownership interest

Country of

operation and

Name 2022 2021 ownership Principal activities
Joint ventures
Alpha Flight Services UAE LLC 51% 51%  United Arab Flight and retail catering and
Emirates ancillary services to the Air Arabia
PJSC.
Sharjah Aviation Services LLC 50% 50%  United Arab Aircraft handling, passenger and
Emirates cargo services at the Sharjah
International Airport.
Cozmo Travel (CJSC) 75% - Armenia Travels and touts, toursm and
(“Cozmo Armenia”) (f) cargo services.
Air Arabia Abu Dhabi L.L.C. 49% 49%  United Arab International ~ commercial  air
Emirates transpottation.
Air Arabia - Egypt Company 40% 40%  Egypt International  commercial  air
S.A.E. transportation.
Fly Jinnah Services (Ptivate) 45% 45%  Pakistan Internatonal — commercial  air
Limited (g) transportation.
Armenian National Airlines 49% 49%  Armenia International ~ commercial  air
(CJSC) (“Fly Atna”) (g) transportation.
T3 Aviation Academy LLC - 51%  United Atrab Aviation training services.
(formerly known as Alpha Emirates
Aviation Academy UAE LLC) (e)
Associates
Air Arabia Maroc, S.A. (h) 44.13% 44.13% Motocco International commercial air
transportation.
Air Arabia Jordan LLC 49% 49% Jordan International commercial air
transpottation.
Tune Protection Commercial 51% 51% United Arab  Commercial brokers.
Brokerage LLC Emirates

2)

During the yeat, the Group has fully liquidated Arabian Management Investment FZE.

b) During the year, the Group has changed the name of COZMO Travel LLC to be “COZMO Ttavel LLC

— Sole proprietorship”.

COZMO Travel LLC — Sole proprietorship controls subsidiaties in Qatar, Kingdom of Saudi Atabia,
Kuwait, Bahrain, United Arab Emirates, India, Oman, Jordan and Egypt.

Impact Aviation Services Limited was incorporated on April 19, 2022, However, it started the operations
on September 1, 2022.

d) Duting the year, the Group incorporated a fully owned subsidiary named “Olgana Real Estate

Development LL.C” through its wholly owned subsidiaty, International Business Company (FZE), to
manage and develop the investment properties of the Group.

During the yeat, the Group has obtained full control over T3 Aviation Academy LLC (formetly known
as Alpha Aviation Academy UAE LLC - a former joint venture of the Group), as a result of acquiting
the remaining 49% shareholding of T3 Aviation Academy LLC (Note 25).

During the year, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement through its wholly owned subsidiary,
COZMO Travel LLC — Sole proprietorship, with one of its joint ventures, Armenian National Aitlines
(CJSO) (“Fly Atna”) to provide travels and tours, tourism and cargo services in Armenia under the name
of Cozmo Travel (CJSC) (“Cozmo Armenia™).

In 2021, the Group entered into joint venture agreements, through its wholly owned subsidiary,
International Business Company (FZE) (“IBC”) with Lakson Group, one of Pakistan’s leading business
conglomerates and Armenian National Interests Fund (ANIF) to operate low-cost carrers from Pakistan
and Armenia, respectively, under the name of Fly Jinnah Services (Private) Limited and Armenian
National Airlines (CJSC) (“Fly Atna”).
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2022

1 Legal status and principal activities (continued)

h) Effective from April 1, 2021, the Group indirectly acquired additional shareholding of 4.13% in Air
Arabia Maroc, S.A., an associate through its wholly owned subsidiary “International Business Company
(FZE)”.

During the year, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement, through its wholly owned subsidiary,

International Business Company (FZE) (“IBC”) with DAL Group, one of Sudan’s leading privately owned

conglomerates to operate low-cost carriers from Sudan, under the name of Air Arabia DAL LLC (“Air Arabia

Sudan”). As at December 31, 2022 and up to the date of approving these consolidated financial statements,

the incorporation and related legal formalities of the joint venture is still in process.

Implementation of UAE Corporation Tax Law and application of IAS 12 Income Taxes

On December 9, 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Dectee-Law No. 47 of 2022 on the

Taxation of Corporations and Businesses (Corporate Tax Law or the Law) to enact a Federal Corpotate Tax

Regime in the UAE. The Law was previously gazetted on October 10, 2022, becoming law 15 days later. The

Corporate Tax regime will become effective fot accounting periods beginning on ot aftet June 1, 2023.

Generally, UAE businesses will be subject to a 9% corporate tax rate, while a rate of 0% will apply to taxable

income not exceeding a particular threshold to be prescribed by way of a Cabinet Decision (expected to be

AED 375,000 based on information released by the Ministry of Finance). Howevet, thete are a number of

significant decisions that are yet to be finalised by way of a Cabinet Decision, including the threshold

mentioned above, that ate critical for entities to detetmine their tax status and the amount of tax due.

Therefore, pending such impottant decisions by the Cabinet, the Gtoup has determined that the Law was

not practically operational as at December 31, 2022, and so not enacted or substantively enacted from the

petspective of TAS 12 — Income Taxes. The Group shall continue to monitor the timing of the issuance of
these critical Cabinet Decisions to determine its tax status and the applicability of IAS 12 — Income Taxes.

The Group is currently in the process of assessing the possible impact on its consolidated financial statements,

both from current and deferred tax perspective, once the Law becomes substantively enacted.

2 Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standatds (IFRSs) and applicable requirements of UAE Federal Law by Dectee No. 32
of 2021 on Commercial Companies.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepated on the historical cost basis except for detivative
financial instruments and investments measured at fait value through othet comptehensive income (FVOCTI),
which are measured at their fair values.

{c) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Arab Emirates Ditham (“AED”), which is the Group’s
functional cutrency. All values are rounded to the neatrest thousands (‘000) except, whete noted otherwise.

3 New or revised Standards or Interpretations

3.1 New Standards adopted as at January 1, 2022

Accounting pronouncements which have become effective from January 1, 2022 and have therefore been
adopted ate as follows:

Reference to conceptual framework (amendments to IFRS 3);

Proceeds before intended use (amendments to IAS 16);

Onerous contracts — Cost of fulfilling a contract (amendments to IAS 37); and

Annual improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards 2018-2020 Cycle (Amendments
to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16).

These amendments do not have a significant impact on these consolidated financial statements and therefore
the disclosures have not been made.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2022

3 New or revised Standards or Interpretations (continued)

3.2 Standards, amendments and Interpretations to existing Standards that are not yet
effective and have not been adopted early by the Group

Other standards and amendments that are not yet effective and have not been adopted eatly by the Group
are as follows:

Effective for annual reporiing periods beginning on or after Jannary 1, 2023:

® Defetred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS
12);

® Disclosute of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2); and

¢ Definition of Accounting Estimate (Amendments to IAS 8).

Effective for annnal reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024:

e  (lassification of Liabilities as Cutrent or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1);
®  Tease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16); and
¢  Non-cuttent Liabilies with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1).

These amendments ate not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the petiod of initial application and therefore the disclosures have not been made.

4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Overall considerations

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by IFRS
for each type of asset, liability, income and expense. The significant accounting policies and measurement
bases are more fully described in the accounting policies as follows:

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency, using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated in foreign
currency at period-end exchange rates are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items are not re-translated at period-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using
the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

Foreign operations

In the consolidated financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of the Group’s entities with a
functional currency other than the AED (the Group’s presentation currency) are translated into AED upon
consolidation. The functional cutrency of the entides in the Group has remained unchanged during the
reporting period.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign operations have been translated into AED at the closing rate
prevailing at the reporting date. Income and expenses of foreign operations have been translated into the
Group's presentation currency at the average rate over the reporting petiod. The exchange diffetences artising
on translation for consolidation ate recognised in other comptehensive income (OCD.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comptise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
as at December 31, 2022. Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2022

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Specifically, the Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has:

a. power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee);

b. exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

c. the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its retuns.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar tights of an investee, the Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

a.  The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
b. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
c.  The Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary.
Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired ot disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control untl the date the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies, All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment
of the assets transferred.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as of the Company.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities,
non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain ot loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations ate accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of acquisition is measured
as the agpregate of the consideration transfetred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incutred are expensed and included in administrative and general
expenses.

When the Group acquites a business, it assesses the financail assets and liabilities assumed for approptiate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embeded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquireee us remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2022

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combination and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent considetation to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fait value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be
an asset of liability will be recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, it should not be re-measured untill is finally settled within equity. Other contingent
consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9, is measuted at fair value at each reporting date wuth
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferted and
the amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the net identifiable assets aquired and liabilities
assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiaty acquired, the
difference is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measuted at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill aquired in a business combination is, from the acquistion date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irtespective of
whether other assets ot Liabilities of the acquireee are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the fain ot loss on disposal of the operation. ‘goodwill disposed of in this cirmustances is
measured basedon the relative values of the operation disposed of and portion of the cash-generating unit
tetained.

Property and equipment

Propetty and equipment ate initially recognised at cost, including any costs directly attributable to bringing
the assets to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by the Group’s management.

Land granted by the Government of Shatjah and acquired through the acquisition of Radisson Blu Hotel and
Resort is not depreciated, as it is deemed to have an infinite life.

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any identified impairment losses.

The following estimated useful lives are applied:

Buildings 15— 20 years
Aircrafts 15 years
Aircraft engines 20 years
Aircraft rotables and equipment 3 ~ 10 years
Airport equipment 3 —15 years
Other propetty and equipment including engine driven pumps (“EDP”) 3 -5 years

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than capital work in progress and land,
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirtement
of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
catrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Property and equipment (continued)

Capital work in progress is stated at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other propetty and equipment, commences when the assets ate ready for their intended
use,

Government grants

Land granted by the government is recognised at nominal value where there is reasonable assurance that the
land will be received and the Group will comply with any attached conditions, where applicable.

Leases and right-of-use assets

The Group has recorded right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets under property
and equipment, net investment in lease representing the net ptesent value of receivables from intermediate
lease, and the corresponding lease liabilities to make lease payments under other liabilities.

The Group as a lessee
A Right-of-use assets

The Gtoup recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depteciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownetship of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets is
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term as follows:

Aircrafts 9 years
Hanger 15 years

Right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment.

II. Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is incteased to
reflect the accretion of intetest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the cartying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-
substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset and is
recognised under other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

When measuting lease liabilities, the Group discounted lease payments using its incremental bortowing rates
range from 2.26 % to 5 % as applicable.

The Group as a lessor
L Net investments in leases

Leases in which the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an
asset to the lessees are classified as finance leases. A receivable is recognised at an amount equal to the present
value of the minimum lease payments under the lease agreement, including guaranteed residual value and un-
amortised initial ditect cost which are included in the consolidated financial statements as “Net investments
in leases” within trade and other receivables.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases and right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

T Interest income on net investinents in leases

The Group follows the finance lease method in accounting for tecognition of finance lease. The total
unearned interest income, i.e. the excess of aggregate instalment contract receivables plus residual value over
the cost of the leased asset is deferred and then amortised over the term of the lease, to produce a systematic
return on net investments in leases.

IIL The Group as an intermediate lessor

The Group acts as an intermediate lessot in a transaction for which an undetlying asset is re-leased by the
Group (‘intermediate lessor’) to a third party, and the lease (‘head lease’) between the head lessor and Group
remains in effect.

The Group classifies the sublease as a finance lease or an operating lease as follows:

®  If the head lease is a shott-term lease that the entity, as a lessee, has accounted for by recognising the
lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, the sublease must be
classified as an operating lease;

®  Otherwise, the sublease must be classified by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease, rather than by reference to the economic useful life of the undetlying asset (such as the itern of
property and equipment that is the subject of the lease).

Investment properties

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes
the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition
criteria are met; and excludes the costs of day to day servicing of an investment property.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year of retitement or disposal.

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner occupied propetty, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value
at the date of change in use. If owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change
in use.

Properties under construction

Properties under construction are catried at cost less any impairment in value. Costs are those expenses
incurred by the Group that are ditectly attributable to the construction of asset.

The catrying values of properties under construction are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
citcumstances indicate the cattying value may not be tecoverable. If any such indication exists and where the
carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable
amount.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill
where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably. The cost
of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

The useful lives of intangible assets arising out of the acquisition of Air Arabia LLC in 2007, have been
estimated to be indefinite (Note 9).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquited separately.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on intetnally generated goodwill
and brands, is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss as incurred.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives atre tested for impairment annually, ot mote frequently when
there is indication of impairment. For intangible assets with definite useful lives amortisation is calculated to
write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss. The
useful life used in the calculation of amoztisation is 5 years.

Deferred charges

Deferred charges are amortised on the straight-line method over the estimated period of the benefits.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comptises invoice price of materials.
Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessaty to make the sale.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence, Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control of joint conttrol
over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed shating of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control. The consideration made in determining significant influence or joint control are
similar to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.

The Group’s investments in its associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The
carrying amount of the investment Is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the
associate ot joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate ot joint venture is
included in the consolidated carrying amount of the investment and goodwill is neither amortised nor
individually tested for impairment. The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s shate of
the results of operations of the associates and joint ventures. Any change in other comprehensive income of
those investees is presented as part of the Group’s consolidated statement of other comprehensive income.

In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains/losses resulting from transaction between the Group and the associate or joint
venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and joint venture is shown on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss outside operating profit. The financial statements of the associate
ot joint venture are prepared for the same reporting petiod as the Group. When necessary, adjustments are
made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
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After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each teporting date, the Group
determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is
impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associate of joint ventute and its catrying value and then recognises the loss
in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate ot joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment atits fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount
of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint ventute or an associate is reduced but joint control ot significant influence
is retained; only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss whete appropriate.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash generating
units, ot otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior yeats. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Financial instruments
Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comptehensive income (OCI) or as derivatives designated as hedging insttuments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.
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Financial assefs (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them.

In otder for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost ot fait value through OCI, it
needs to give tise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, ot both.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in two categoties:

® Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments);

¢ Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses
upon derecognition (equity instruments); ot

® Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
derecognition (debt instruments).

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if

both of the following conditions are met:

® The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in ordet to
collect contractual cash flows, and

® The contractual tetms of the financial asset give tise on specified dates to cash flows that ate solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and

are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes

trade and most other receivables, bank balances and cash and other non-current financial assets.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instrumsents)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify itrevocably its equity investments as equity

instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an

instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the consolidated statements of profit or loss.

Dividends are recognised as other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the tight of

payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as 2 recovery of part of

the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated

at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments)

Fot debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluaton and

impairment losses or reversals are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and computed

in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes ate

recognized in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in OCI is recycled to

profit or loss.

The Gtoup’s debt insttuments at fair value through OCI includes investments in unquoted debt instruments

included under other “Investments at fair value through other consprebensive income”.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assefs (continued)
Derecognition

A financial asset (o, whete applicable, a patt of a financial asset or patt of a group of similar financial assets)
is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

® The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expited, or

® The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset ot has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewatds of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has enteted into a
passthrough arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the tisks and rewards of
ownership.

When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transfetred asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held ot other credit enhancements that are integtal to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 60 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities ate classified, at initial recognition, as payables and borrowings, as appropriate.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include lease liabilities, trade and most other payables, and bank borrowings.
Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Loans and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
bortowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. The effective interest method is the method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial liability, of, where appropriate, a shotter period to the net catrying amount on
initial recognition.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in
the respective carrying amounts is tecognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities ate offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on 2 net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fait value of the financial instruments that ate traded in active markets at each reposting date is
determined by reference to quoted market ptices or dealer ptice quotations (bid price for long positions and
ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial intstruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques may include:

®  Using recent arm’s length market transactions;
e  Reference to the current fait value of another instrument that is substantially the same; or
e A discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

Derivative financial instruments

The management has applied hedge accounting for its derivative financial instruments. The management
applies hedge accounting only if all of the following conditions are met:

Thete is formal designation and written documentation at the inception of the hedge;

® The effectiveness of the hedging relationship can be measured reliably. This requires the fair value of
the hedging instrument, and the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item with respect to the risk being
hedged, to be reliably measurable;
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®  The hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving fair value or cash flow offsets in accordance
with the original documented risk management strategy; and

®  The hedge is assessed and determined to be highly effective on an ongoing basis throughout the hedge
relationship. A hedge is highly effective if changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument, and
changes in the fair value or expected cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

At inception of the hedge, the management designate hedge either as a cash flow hedge or as a fair value
hedge. The designation is done at inception of the hedge. At inception of the hedge, the management
establishes formal documentation of the hedge relationship. The method an entity adopts depends on its risk
management strategy and hedge accounting systems and practices. The method that will be used in measuring
hedge effectiveness is specified in the hedge documentation.

The hedge documentation prepared at inception includes a desctiption of the followings:

®  Risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge;
The nature of the risk being hedged;

e (lear identification of the hedged item - the asset, liability, firm commitment or cash flows atising from
a forecast transaction - and the hedging instrument; and

®  How hedge effectiveness will be assessed both prospectively and retrospectively. The entity describes
the method and ptocedutes in sufficient detail to establish a firm and consistent basis for measurement
in subsequent petiods for the particular hedge.

A hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements if there is an economic relationship
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from the economic relationship and the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same
as that resulting from the quantities of the hedged item that the entity actually hedge and the hedging
instrument uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Under a cash flow hedge model, the effective portion of the fair value changes of the hedging instrument is
recognised in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income (OCI) and the ineffective portion is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In a fair value hedge, any ineffectiveness is automatically recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income because changes in the measurement of both the hedging instrument and the hedged
item ate reported through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income except if the hedging
insttument hedges an equity investment for which the management has elected to present changes in fair
value in OCL

If a hedge no longert is effective, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively from the last date on
which the hedge was ptoven to be effective. Hedge accounting is also discontinued when the hedged item or
the hedging instrument is detecognised, the ctiteria are no longer met or upon voluntarily discontinuation.

If the hedging insttument is a detivative, then the hedging instrument is measured at fair value, with the
effective portion of changes in its fair value recognised in OCI and presented within equity normally in a
hedging reserve. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If hedge accounting is not applied to a derivative instrument that is entered into as an economic hedge, then
detivative gains and losses are shown in the consolidated statements of other comprehensive income.

Provision for employees' end of service benefits

Provision is made for the full amount of statutory gratuity due to employees for their period of service up to
the reporting date in accordance with the applicable labour laws. The gratuity provision is shown under non-
current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Provision for staff terminal benefits
Defined contribution plans

A defined contiibution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed conttibutions
into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future
payments is available.

Contributions for eligible UAE National employees ate made to the Pension Authority, in accordance with
the provisions of UAE labour Law No. (7) of 1999 relating to Pension and Social Secutity and its amendments
and chatged to the consolidated statement of comptehensive income in the petiod in which they fall due.

Aircraft maintenance

For the aircraft owned by the Group, maintenance accruals are made based on the technical evaluation.,

For the aircraft under operating lease agreements, wherein the Group has an obligation to maintain the
aircraft, accruals are made during the lease term for the obligation based on estimated future costs of major
airframe and certain engine maintenance checks by making appropriate charges to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss calculated by reference to the number of hours or cycles operated and engineering estimates.

Deferred income

Deferred income mainly represents unearned revenue from flight seats sold but not yet flown and will be
released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss when passengers are flown or time expired.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are tecognised when present obligations as a result of a past event will probably lead to an outflow
of economic resources from the Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the
outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive
commitment that has resulted from past events, for example, legal disputes or onerous contracts. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditute required
to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including
the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by consideting the
class of obligations as a whole. Provisions ate discounted to their present values, where the time value of
money is matetial,

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group’s tevenue primarily derives from transportation services for both passengers and cargo, ticket
selling, accommodation income and dividend income. Revenue is recognized when the transportation, tickets
or accommodation are provided. The Group considers whether it is an agent or a principal in relation to
transportation services by considering whether it has a performance obligation to provide services to the
customer or whether the obligation is to arrange for the services to be provided by a third party.

Rendering of services

Passenger tickets are generally paid for in advance of transportation and are recognised, net of discounts as
deferred revenue on ticket sales in current liabilities until the customer has flown. Unused tickets are
recognised as revenue after the contracted date of departure using estimates tegarding the timing of
recognition based on the terms and conditions of the ticket and statistical analysis of historical trends. Other
revenue including maintenance; handling; hotel and holiday and commissions is recognized as the related
petformance obligation is satisfied over time using an appropriate methodology which reflects the activity
that has been undertaken to satsfy the related obligation.
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Hoztel revenue

Income from room hire is recognised on a pro-rata basis over the petiod of occupancy. Revenue from sale
of goods, food and beverages is recognised upon issuance of telated sales invoices on delivery to guests and
customers.

Dijvidend income
Dividend from investments is recognised when the Group's right to receive payment has been established.

Finance income and finance costs

Finance income mainly comprises interest income on fixed deposits and investments. Interest income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest rate method.

Finance costs mainly comprises interest expense on bank borrowings and lease liabilities. All botrowing costs
are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest rate
method. However, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a
qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Capitalisation of bortowing costs
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are
complete,

Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss upon utilisation of the
service or at the date of their origin.

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-makers, who is responsible for resoutce allocation
and assessing performance of the operating segments, are the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive
Officer.

Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies

When prepating the consolidated financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgment,
estimates and assumptions about recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The actual results may differ from the judgment, estimates and assumptions made by management, and will
seldom equal the estimated results.

Information about significant judgment, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided in the following pages:

Control assessment

The Gtoup reassesses whether or not it controls an investee, if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed in IFRS 10.

Management has reviewed its control assessments in accordance with IFRS 10 and has concluded that there
is no effect on the classification (as subsidiaties or otherwise) of any of the Group’s investees held during the
period covered by these consolidated financial statements.
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Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives ate tested annually for impairment and at other
times when such indications exist. The impairment calculation requites the use of estimates.

The intangible assets include trade name, landing rights, price benefits from related parties and handling
license - Shatjah Aviation Setvices LLC.

The recoverability of these assets is based on the Group’s projected financial performance which are
underpinned by a number of assumptions. Such assumptions inherently involve significant judgments.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment exists when the catrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The fair value less costs to sell
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions in arm’s length transactions of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use
calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the
next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant
future investments that will enhance the asset’s petformance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable
amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well as the expected
future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

Aircraft maintenance costs

The Group incurs liabilities for maintenance costs in respect of its owned aircrafts and leased aircraft. A
charge is made in the consolidated statement of profit or loss each month based on the number of flight
houts or cycles used to build up an acctrual to cover the cost of heavy-duty maintenance checks when they
occut. Estimates involved in calculating the provision requited include the expected date of the check, market
conditions for heavy-duty maintenance checks at the expected date of check, the condition of asset at the
time of the check, the likely utilisation of the asset in terms of either flying hours or cycles, and the regulations
in relation to extensions to lives of life-limited parts, which form a significant proportion of the cost of
heavy-duty maintenance costs of engines. Additional maintenance costs for aircraft engines are considered
for accrual based on the estimates made by engineeting department on the basis of operational requitements.

In case of operating lease aircraft, the Group is also required to pay maintenance reserves to lessots on a
monthly basis, based on usage. These maintenance reserves are then returned to the Group on production
of evidence that qualifying maintenance expenditure has been incurred. Maintenance reserves paid are
deducted from the accruals made. In some instances, not all of the maintenance reserves paid can be
recovered by the Group and, therefore, are retained by the lessor at the end of the lease term.

Assumptions made in respect of the basis of the accruals are reviewed for all aircraft once a year. In addition,
when further information becomes available which could materially change an estimate made, such as a heavy-
duty maintenance check taking place, utilisation assumptions changing, or return conditions being re-
negotiated, then specific estimates ate reviewed immediately, and the accrual is reset accordingly.

Accrual for afrcraft flying costs

The management accrues for the landing, parking, pround handling, and other charges applicable for each
airpott in which the Group operates flights on a monthly basis. These estimates are based on the rate of
charges applicable to each airport based on the agreements and recent invoices received for the services
obtained. Similatly, accruals for ovetflying charges are estimated based on the agreement entered with each
countty. Actual charges may differ from the charges accrued and the differences are accounted fot, on a
prospective basis.
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Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Estimated useful life and residual value of property and equipment, right-of-use assets and
Intangible assets

The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment (except land), right-of-use assets and
intangible assets based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use or the lease
term. The estimated useful lives of propetty and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
teviewed pesiodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and
tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.

Deferred charges

The period of amortisation of the deferred charges is determined based on the pattern in which the future
economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Group.

Allowance for expected credit losses for trade receivables and amounts due from related parties

The expected credit losses is based on assumption about. risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

Determining lease terms

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option.

Extension options (or petiods after termination options) atre only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (ot not terminated).

The following factors are normally the most relevant:

®  Tf thete ate significant penalties to terminate {or not extend), the Group is typically reasonably certain
to extend (or not extend).

o  If any leasehold improvements ate expected to have a significant remaining value the Group is typically
cettain to extend (or not extend).

®  Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical lease durations, costs and business
disruption required to replace the leased asset.

®  The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Group becomes
obliged to exercise (or not exetcise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a
significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that
is within the control of the lessee.

Determination of appropriate discount rate in measuring lease liabilities

The Group measures its lease liabilities at present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease contract. The lease payments were discounted using a reasonable rate
deemed by management equal to the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

In determining a reasonable discount rate, management considers the term of the leases, the underlying asset
and the economic environment. Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought about
by changes in such factors.

32



Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2022

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Recognition of revenue

Management considers recognizing revenue over time, if one of the following ctitetia is met, otherwise
revenue will be recognized at a point in time:

® the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s petformance
as the Group performs;

®  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced; or

®  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Current versus non-current classification

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on
cutrent/non-cuttent classification.

An asset is current when it is:

Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;

Held primatily for the putpose of trading;

Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting petiod; or

Cash ot cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

® Itis expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;

e  Itis held primatily for the purpose of trading;

®  Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

®  There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after

the reporting period.

All other liabilities ate classified as non-cutrent.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2022

5 Property and equipment (continued)

Buildings include hotel apartments, simulatot and staff quarters. Simulator and staff quatters are
constructed on land in Sharjah, granted by the Government of Sharjah.

Property and equipment include one plot of land in Shatjah, granted by the Government of Shatjah
recognised at nominal value of AED 1.

As at December 31, 2022, work in progtess represents various capital projects, mainly related to business
system, applications and building refutbishment, amounting to AED 14.8 million (2021: AED 22.8 million).
Capital commitments related to these projects are minimal.

All of the Group’s non-movable assets are located in the UAE, except for propetty and equipment with
carrying amount of AED 3.9 million (2021: AED 3.2 million), located outside UAE.

At December 31, 2022, aircrafts with catrying amount of AED 4.09 billion (2021: AED 4.80 billion) are
held under lease (Note 23).

The Group’s management conducted an internal assessment of its aircraft assets and considered if there
are any impairment indicators such as a detetioration in current or forecast trade activity, the incurtence of
losses or other factors indicating that the assets may be impaired. Based on their assessment, the Group’s
management is of the view that no indicators of impairment arose during 2022 (2021: AED Nil).

6 Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets represent Aircrafts and Hangar obtained on lease (refer to Note 23 for lease liabilities
recognised in relation to the right-of-use assets). The carrying amounts of the right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are shown below:

Aitcrafts Hangar Total

2022 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000
Gross carrying amount
As at January 1, 2022 784,199 16,650 800,849
Additions 113,526 - 113,526
As at December 31, 2022 897,725 16,650 914,375
Accumulated depreciation
As at January 1, 2022 166,817 9,642 176,459
Charge for the year (Note 27) 92,063 833 92,896
As at December 31, 2022 258,880 10,475 269,355
Net carrying amounts

at December 31, 2022 638,845 6,175 645,020

Aitcrafts Hangar Total

2021 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000
Gross carrying amount
As at January 1, 2021 651,710 16,650 668,360
Additons 132,489 - 132,489
As at December 31, 2021 784,199 16,650 800,849
Accumulated depreciation
As at January 1, 2021 84,288 8,810 93,098
Charge for the year (Note 27) 82,529 832 83,361
As at December 31, 2021 166,817 9,642 176,459
Net carrying amounts

at December 31, 2021 617,382 7,008 624,390
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7 Advance for new aircraft

These represent pre-delivery payments made to suppliets for an amount of AED 585.1 million (2021: AED
381.4 million) in respect of new aircrafts.

8 Investment properties

Duting the yeatr ended December 31, 2022, as a result of a coutt verdict following series of court orders on
recoverability claims against certain outstanding receivables, the Group has completed the exchange of its
investment property (“Pier 8”) which represented certain units under construction in a building located in
Dubai Marina, Dubai, UAE, with a cartying value of AED 105.9 million as at January 1, 2022 with other
investment properties under construction located in Al Safouh First, Dubai, UAE (“Olgana”). The Group
has estimated the fair value of newly acquired investment property at AED 149 million based on valuation
made by independent valuator. This value represents the fair value of Olgana units at the date of exchange
of these properties, hence the Group has recognized a gain of AED 43 million, as a result of this
transaction. The Olgana is approximately 60% complete as at December 31, 2022 (2021: Pier 8 was 50%
complete).

The fair value of Olgana has been estimated by the independent valuer using a market approach that reflects
observed prices for recent market transactions for similar properties and incorporates adjustments for
factors specific to the property including total area size, location, conditions and percentage of completion.
The significant input used for valuation is sales ptice per square ft, which is observable from market for
similar properties.

2022 2021

AED '000 AED '000

Balance as at January 1, 105,970 105,970
Additions during the year 149,000 -
Derecognition duting the year {(105,970) -
149,000 105,970

Management estimates no impairment is required to be recognized on the basis of absence of any indicators
of impairment for the building as at December 31, 2022 (2021: AED Nil).

9 Intangible assets
2022 2021
AED '000 AED '000
Intangible assets * 1,139,793 1,133,609
Goodwill ** 198,522 198,522

1,338,315 1,332,131

Duting the year ended December 31, 2022, intangible assets and goodwill were subject to impaitment tests
and management concluded that they are not impaired.

* The movement in the intangible assets duting the year can be reconciled as follows:

2022 2021

AED '000 AED '000

As at January 1, 1,133,609 1,125,584
Additions during the year 9,428 10,366
Amottization during the yeat (3,244) (2,341)
As at December 31, 1,139,793 1,133,609
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9 Intangible assets (continued)

Certain intangible assets were arisen from the acquisition of Air Arabia L1.C in 2007 pursuant to fair values
determined by an independent valuer and are summatised as follows:

2022 2021
AED '000 AED '000
Trade name 395,410 395,410
Landing rights 468,273 468,273
Price benefit from related parties 180,281 180,281
Handling license - Shatjah Aviation Setvices 48,383 48,383
1,092,347 1,092,347

*  Goodwill comptises of the following:
2022 2021
AED 000 AED '000
Goodwill on acquisition of Air Arabia LLC *#* 189,474 189,474
Goodwill on step acquisition of Information Systems Associates FZC 9,048 9,048
As at December 31, 198,522 198,522

*#*  Goodwill arising on of the acquisition of Air Arabia LLC in 2007, determined by an independent
valuer, was as follows:

AED '000

Total fair value of Air Arabia LLC 1,400,000
Fair value of intangible assets (1,092,347)
Fair value of tangible assets — net (118,179)
189,474

The Group, with support from an independent professional services firm, performed impairment tests on
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. The
recoverable amount of goodwill and intangible assets for impairment test has been determined using value-
in-use calculations. For calculation purposes the Group’s management prepared cash flow projections for
5 years’ petiod and applied a discount rate of between 10.52% to 11.54% (2021: 11.61% to 11.86%).

Cash flow projections duting the forecast period are based on the expected gross margins. The Group
believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based
would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit. Based on these calculations the Group is of the view that goodwill and intangible assets
are not impaired.

10 Deferred charges

Processing
Landing Aircraft fee and Buyer
permission upgrade commission furnished
charges costs costs  equipment Total
2022 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Gross carrying amount
As at January 1, 2022 51,745 35,073 27,086 23,703 137,607
As at December 31, 2022 51,745 35,073 27,086 23,703 137,607
Accumulated amortisation
As at January 1, 2022 51,745 33,120 16,201 5,576 106,642
Chatge for the year - 1,140 2,302 2,895 6,337
As at December 31, 2022 51,745 34,260 18,503 8,471 112,979
Net carrying amounts as at
December 31, 2022 - 813 8,583 15,232 24,628
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10 Deferred charges (continued)
Processing
Landing Aircraft fee and Buyer
petmission upgrade commission Furnished
charges COsts costs Equipment Total
2021 AED'000  AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Gross carrying amount
As at January 1, 2021 51,745 35,073 27,086 19,768 133,672
Additions during the year - - - 3,935 3,935
As at December 31, 2021 51,745 35,073 27,086 23,703 137,607
Accumulated amortisation ‘
As at Januvary 1, 2021 51,745 31,599 14,049 2,803 100,196
Charge for the year - 1,521 2,152 2,773 6,446
As at December 31, 2021 51,745 33,120 16,201 5,576 106,642
Net carrying amounts as at
December 31, 2021 - 1,953 10,885 18,127 30,965
11 Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
2022 2021
AED ‘000 AED 000
Quoted investments in equity insttuments in UAE * 10,321 15,556
Unquoted investments in debt instruments in UAE 14,562 -
Unquoted investments in debt instruments outside UAE 18,283 -
Total investments 43,166 15,556

* Movement in quoted investments in equity instruments during the year were as follow:

2022 2021

AED ‘000 AED “000

As at January 1, 15,556 10,772
Disposal during the year - (3,607)
Change in fair value (5,236) 8,391
As at December 31, 10,321 15,556

The market tate as at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 are considered for the calculation of the
fair value of the investments that are quoted on the stock exchange market.

The movement in unquoted investments in debt instruments during the year were as follows:

2022 2021

AED ‘000 AED 000

Additions during the year 32,845 -
As at December 31, 32,845 -

The fair values of these debt instruments ate determined using market interest rates of similar debt
instruments as at December 31, 2022,

39



Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2022

12 Investments in associates and joint ventures
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
Investments in associates (Note 12.1) 51,751 81,619
Investments in joint ventures (Note 12.2) 104,449 96,330
156,200 177,949

12.1 Investments in associates

Investments in associates represent share in net assets of the associates at the reporting date, accounted for
using equity method. The movements duting the year are summatised as follows:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

As at Januaty 1, 81,619 27,775

Shate of profit of Tune Protection Commercial Brokerage LLC 8,956 17,156

Share of profit of Air Arabia Maroc S.A. 5,098 38,563
Dividend received from Tune Protection Commetcial

Brokerage LLC (13,599) (1,875)

Dividend received from Air Arabia Maroc S.A (30,323) -

As at December 31, 51,751 81,619

Investment in Air Arabia Jordan LLC is fully impaired in the previous years.
12.2 Investments in joint ventures

Investments in joint ventures represent share in net assets of the joint ventures at the reporting date as per
equity accounting principles and the movements duting the year are summarised below:

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
As at January 1, 96,330 64,882
Additional investiments during the year
Armenian National Aitlines (C]SC) 18,206 -
Fly Jinnah Setvices (Private) Limited 6,693 3,588
Cozmo Travel (CJSC) 413 -
Share of profit/ (loss)
Sharjah Aviation Services 24,516 21,428
Alpha Flight Services UAE LLC 13,840 7,915
T3 Aviation Academy (formetly known as
Alpha Aviation Academy) 175 3,640
Air Arabia Abu Dhabi L.L.C (1,280) 997
Cozmo Travel (C]SC) 68 -
Fly Jinnah Setvices (Private) Limited (7,306) =
Armenian National Airlines (CJSC) (7,837) =
Dividends received during the year
Alpha Flight Services UAE LLC (19,000) -
Shatjah Aviation Services (15,000) =
T3 Aviation Academy UAE LLC (3,733) (6,120)
Disposal of investment in joint venture
T3 Aviation Academy UAE LLC (formetly known as
Alpha Aviation Academy UAE LLC) (Note 25) (1,636) s
As at December 31, 104,449 96,330
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For the year ended December 31, 2022

13 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements provide a description of each classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial labilities and the related accounting policies. The catrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each category ate as follows:

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables 916,172 576,356
Bank balances and cash 4,736,251 3,878,006
Cash flow hedge assets (detivative) 373,339 273,072
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 43,166 15,556
6,068,928 4,742,990
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables 3,820,369 3,287,820
Bank borrowings 139,485 37,634
Lease liabilities 2,748,723 3,236,607
6,708,577 6,562,061

A description of the Group’s financial statements risk, including risk management objectives and policies
is given in Note 35 and methods used to measure fair value are described in Note 36.

i4 Trade and other receivables

Current assets

Financial assets:

Trade receivables, gtoss

Allowance for expected credit losses

Trade receivables, net

Cash flow hedge asset (Note 22)

Net investment in lease *

Amounts due from telated parties (Note 15)
Advances and other receivables, net

Non-financial assets:
Prepaid aircraft lease rentals
Prepaid expenses — others

Non-current assets

Financial asset:

Cash flow hedge asset Note 22)
Net investment in lease *

Lease deposit receivable

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
402,256 255,423
(48,592) (44,277)
353,664 211,146
28,753 186,892
48,001 14,601
146,388 128,517
250,336 179,609
827,142 720,765
12,510 4,389
23,198 14,188
35,708 18,577
862,850 739,342
344,586 86,180
91,484 17,406
25,051 25,077
1,323,971 868,005
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14 Trade and other receivables (continued)

*  Net investment in lease represents the present value of the minimum lease payment receivables. The
Group subleased aircrafts to Air Arabia Maroc, S.A. (an associate), Fly Jinnah Setvices (Ptivate)
Limited (a joint venture) and Armenian National Aitlines CJSC (a joint venture). The Group has
classified the subleases as finance lease because the subleases are for the whole of the remaining term
of head lease.

The following table sets out the lease receivables telated to the subleases:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

Not later than one yeat 48,001 14,601
Later than one year but not later than five years 91,484 17,406
At December 31, 139,485 32,007

As at December 31, 2022, all of the Group’s trade and othet teceivables have been reviewed for indicators
of impairment. Certain trade receivables and other receivables amounting to AED 48.59 million and AED
55 million, respectively, were found to be impaired (2021: AED 44.27 million and AED 12 million).

The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables can be reconciled as follows:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

As at January 1, 44,277 17,020
Allowance for expected ctedit losses of trade receivables (Note 28) 4,315 27,257
As at December 31, 48,592 44 277

The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of advances and other receivables can be reconciled
as follows:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

As at January 1, 12,000 12,000

Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 28) 43,030 -

As at December 31, 55,030 12,000
The ageing of trade receivables which are not impaired at the reporting date are as follows:
Not Past due but not impaired

past due nor <60 60-90 >90

Total impaired Days Days Days

AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

2022 353,664 322,269 5,451 3,412 31,395

2021 211,146 206,978 3,045 329 794

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled in within notmal credit terms of 45 to
60 days after which they are considered to be past due. Unimpaired accounts receivable are expected, on
the basis of past expetience, to be recoverable. Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses
the potential customers’ quality and defines credit limits for customer. Thete are 3 customers who
tepresent more than 18% (2021: mote than 23%) of the total balance of trade receivables.

Majotity of the trade teceivables ate from sales agents which are secured mainly by bank gnarantees and
deposits.
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15 Related parties

The Group in the notmal course of business carties on transactions with other enterprises that fall within
the definition of related party. The Group’s related patties include key management personnel, entities
held under common control, associates, joint ventures and others. Transactions with related pattes are
carried out in the normal coutse of business and ate measured at exchange amounts, being the amounts
agreed by both the Board of Directors and the respected related party.

Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss ate as follows:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

Rental income from aitcraft operating lease (Note 26) 198,720 195,420
Expenses recharged by telated parties (48,780) (31,813)
Revenue from related parties 97,611 45,326
Management fees from joint ventures and associates (Note 30) 43,073 25,504
Income from investments in associates and joint ventures 36,231 89,699

Compensation of key management personnel

A number of key management personnel hold positions in the Group that result in them having control
or significant influence over the financial or operating activities. Compensation of key management
petsonnel are as follows:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

Shortt term benefits 14,398 10,000
Long term benefits 591 620
Board of Directors' remuneration* 8,000 =

* At the Annual Genetal Meeting held on Match 11, 2022, Boatd of Directots proposed, and the
shareholders apptoved Boatd of Directors' remuneradon of AED 8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. Duting 2021, no board remuneration was announced for the year ended December
31, 2020.

Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000

Amounts due from related parties: (Note 14)
Receivable from associates and joint ventures 75,726 69,150
Other related parties 70,662 59,367
146,388 128,517
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000

Amounts due to related parties: (Note 21)

Payable to joint ventures 68,698 76,894
Other related parties 44,033 2,547
112,731 79,441

Amounts due from/ (to) related parties above are unsecured, bear no interest and have no fixed repayment
terms. The management considers these to be cutrent assets/current liabilities as approptiate.
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16 Bank balances and cash

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000

Bank balances
Fixed deposits* 3,686,064 2,729,241
Curtent accounts 825,852 854,747
Call deposits 212,680 287,251
4,724,596 3,871,239
Cash in hand 11,655 6,767
Bank balances and cash 4,736,251 3,878,006

* 'These deposits carry an average interest rate of 3.62% (2021: 2.06%) per annum.

17 Share capital

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000

Authorised, issued and fully paid-up share capital
(4,666,700 thousand shates of AED 1 each) 4,666,700 4,666,700

Dividends

At the Annual General Meeting held on March 11, 2022, the Board of Directots proposed, and the
shareholdets approved a cash dividend approximately of AED 397 million at AED 0.085 per share for
the year ended December 31, 2021. Duting 2021, no dividend was proposed for the year ended December
31, 2020.

18 Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association and Article 103 of Federal Decree Law No. 32
of 2021, a minimum of 10% of the net profit for the year has to be transferred to the statutory reserve.
Such transfers are required to be made until the balance on the statutory reserve equals one half of the
Company’s paid-up shate capital. The reserve is not available for disttibution except as provided for in
the Federal Decree Law.

19 General reserve

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, an amount equal to 10% of the net profit for
the year is transferred to a genetal resetve. Transfers to this reserve shall stop by resolution of an Ordinary
General Assembly upon recommendation by the Board of Directors or when this reserve reaches 50% of
the paid-up capital of the Group. This reserve shall be utilized for the purposes determined by the General
Assembly at an ordinary meeting upon recommendation by the Board of Directors.

20 Provision for staff terminal benefits
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
As at January 1, 144,637 131,384
Charge for the yeat 33,737 17,004
Payments made during the year (8,359) (3,751)
As at December 31, 170,015 144,637
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21 Trade and other payables

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
Financial liabilities
Maintenance liabilities 1,757,700 1,572,361
Accrued expenses 654,897 664,702
Other payables 860,502 680,483
Trade payables 398,894 253,797
Amounts due to related parties (Note 15) 112,731 79,441
Lease deposit payables 35,645 37,036
3,820,369 3,287,820
Non-financial liability
Advances from customets 49,166 32,532
3,869,535 3,320,352
Less:
Non-current liabilities
Maintenance liabilities 1,371,725 1,324,032
Lease deposit payable 35,641 26,007
1,407,366 1,350,039
Current liabilities 2,462,169 1,970,313

The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the
credit period.

22 Derivative financial instruments

Fuel derivatives

The Gtoup uses detivative financial instruments for risk management purposes. Hedging instruments are
measured at their fair value at the reporting date and the effective portion of the changes in their fair value
is recognised in the consolidated statement of other comptehensive income, as patt of the cash flow hedge
reserve in line with provisions of IFRS 9.

No loss was recognised in 2022 (2021: AED Nil) relating to the ineffective portion of trade deals and the
settlement of the same in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, as part of fuel costs (Note 27).

The Gtoup has reassessed the hedging relationship as at reporting date and concluded that the forecast
transactions being hedged are highly probable to occur in the future. Cash flow hedge asset is categorised
into the following:

2022 2021
Term AED'000 Tetm AED'000

Non-current asset
Commodity swaps, forwards options

and others 2024-2025 344,586 2023-2024 86,180
Current asset
Commodity swaps, collats, forwards

options and others 2023 28,753 2022 186,892
Total (Note 14) 373,339 273,072
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23 Lease liabilities

The Group has entered into leasing arrangements with leasing companies to finance the purchase of the
aircraft. The terms of the leases are 5 - 15 years for aircrafts and hangar. Lease liabilities in respect of
right-of-use assets recognised (refer to Note 6) in the consolidated statement of financial position as
follows:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

As at January 1, 3,236,607 3,732,287

Additions to lease liabilities for the year 252,158 131,645

Payments made duting the yeat (740,042) {627,325)

As at December 31, 2,748,723 3,236,607
Lease liabilities are disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

Non-cutrent portion of lease liabilities 2,126,498 2584174

Current portion of lease liabilities 622,225 652,433

2,748,723 3,236,607

The lease liabilities are secuted by the associated leased aitcraft (Note 5).

The lease agreements are subject to certain financial and operational covenants including compliance with
various regulations, restrictions on unapproved subleasing, insurance coverage and maintenance of total
debt to equity ratio,

Lease liabilities are payable as follows:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

Not later than one year 622,225 652,433
Later than one year but not later than five years . 2,126,498 2,109,859
Later than five years - 474,315
As at December 31, 2,748,723 3,236,607

The finance chatges ate calculated based on average interest rate of 2.99% (2021: 2.99%).

24 Bank borrowings
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
Non-current 30,604 =
Cutrent portion 108,881 37,634
Total bank borrowings 139,485 37,634

During the yeat, the Group has obtained an additional loan of USD 25 million fot partial reimbursement
pre-delivery payment of aircrafts. The loan is repayable over a period 36 months from the initial drawdown
date and catties an interest of 1.6% + 3 months SOFR (2021: 0.65% - 0.7%, and + 1-month LIBOR and
3-month EIBOR pert annum).
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25 Business combinations

Acquisition of remaining 49% ownership interest in T3 Aviation Academy UAE LLC

Duting the year, the Group acquired further 49% ownership interest in T3 Aviation Academy UAE LLC
(formerly Alpha Aviation Academy UAE LLC - a former joint venture of the Group) for a total
consideration of AED 11 million, thereby increasing its total ownership interest to 100% after this

transaction. The details of the acquisition ate as follows:
2022
AED'000

Consideration for acquisition of 49% ownership interest 11,025
Fair value of pre-existing interest in the Subsidiaty (51%) 11,475

22,500
Fait value of net assets 22,500
Provisional goodwill arising on acquisition =

As at December 31, 2022, the Group has not completed the measurement of fair values of assets and
liabilities at the date of acquisition, accordingly the amounts mentioned above are only provisional. As a
result of the above transaction, the Group has derecognized its investment in T3 Aviation Academy UAE
LLC as a joint venture and has recognized a gain on detecognition of investment in joint venture as
follows:

2022
AED'000
Fair value of pre-existing interest (51%) 11,475
Catrying value of investment in T3 Aviation Academy UAE LLC as
joint venture 1,636
Gain in derecognition of investment in joint venture (Note 30) 9,839
26 Revenue
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
Passenger revenue 4,282,527 2,421,458
Other aitline related services 358,152 225,233
Service revenue 213,498 143,054
Alrcraft lease rentals - net (Note 15) 198,720 195,420
Cargo revenue 171,516 145,744
Revenue from hotel operations 61,563 54,573
Baggage revenue 44,336 40,035
Sales commissions and expenses (88,482) (51,395)
5,241,830 3,174,122
27 Direct costs
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
Fuel costs (Note 22) 1,478,912 646,317
Staff costs 586,204 358,156
Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 5) 511,642 511,076
Aircraft maintenance expenses 498,790 293,598
Landing and overflying charges 276,198 162,294
Passenger, ground and technical handling charges 258,359 148,215
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 6) 92,896 83,361
Insurance 8,368 10,557
Other operating costs 98,892 77,675
3,810,261 2,291,249
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28 Administrative and general expenses

Staff costs

Allowance for expected credit losses of advances and other
receivables (Note 14)

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 5)

Legal and professional fees

Travel and accommodation costs

Rent

Communication costs

Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables (Note 14)

Other administrative and genetal expenses

29 Selling and marketing expenses

Staff costs
Advertisement expenses
Reservaton management expenses

30 Other income, net

Management fees from joint ventures and associates (Note 15)
Gain on disposal of investment properties (INote 8)

Gain on disposal of investment in joint venture MNote 25)
Othets

31 Basic and diluted earnings per share

Profit attributable to the Ownets of the Company

Weighted average number of shares (in ‘000)

Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED)

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
114,838 81,316
43,030 :
19,839 17,261
11,887 11,082
8,770 3,749
7,303 6,579
5,631 5,837
4,315 27,257
70,854 45,417
286,467 198,498
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
36,808 22,913
29,657 17,815
1,585 692
68,050 41,420
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
43,073 25,504
43,030 "
9,839 =
39,671 36,649
135,613 62,153
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
1,221,786 719,927
4,666,700 4,666,700
0.26 0.15
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32 Operating lease commitments
The Group as a lessor:

As at December 31, 2022, the Group has leased out 23 aircrafts (2021: 15) under non-cancellable operating
lease agreements to related parties.

The leases have varying terms and renewal rights. The future minimum lease payments receivable under
non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as receivables, are
shown below:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

Within one year 249,001 162,307
Between 2 and 5 years 557,720 260,862
806,721 423,169

The catrying amount of the leased aircrafts owned by the Group under operating leases at the reporting
date are as follows:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

Net book value | 1,370,323 1,117,515
Accumulated depreciation 1,611,780 1,159,482
Depreciation charge for the year 158,641 121,501

33 Contingent liabilities

The Group have letters of guarantees and credits entered into as part of the normal course of business
and in connection with deposits against leased aircrafts amounting to AED 41 million as at December 31,
2022 (2021: AED 497.94 million), which at December 31, 2022 are not expected to tesult in material
losses for the Group in the foreseen future and not consider it probable that there will be an outflow of
economic resources with regard to these contingent liabilities.

34 Capital commitments
2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
Auntharised and contracted:
Aircraft fleet (Note 7) 23,230,529 23,434,297
35 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The main types of risks are
market risk, credit risk and liquidity tisk.

The Group's risk management is coordinated at Group level, in close cooperation with the Board of
Directors, and focuses on actively securing the Group's short to medium-term cash flows by minimising
the exposure to financial markets.

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative putposes nor does it
write options. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed ate desctibed on the
following pages:
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35 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value ot future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a
result of changes in market ptices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual
security ot its issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the market.

The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to interest
rate risk and price risks, which result from both its operating and investing activities.

i Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates

The Group adopts a policy of ongoing review of its exposute to changes in interest rate on its bottowings,
taking into account market expectations, the maturity profile and cash flows of the undetlying debt, and
the extent to which debt may potentially be either prepaid ptior to its maturity ot refinanced at reduced
cost.

The Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates through fixed deposits, investments, call
deposits, lease liabilities and bank borrowings.

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile on the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments is as
follows:

2022 2021
AED'000 AED'000
Fixedrate
Financial assets
Fixed deposits 3,686,064 2729241
Call deposits 212,680 287,251
3,898,744 3,016,492
Variable rate
Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities 2,748,723 3,236,607
Bank borrowings 139,485 37,634
2,888,208 3,274,241

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit and closing equity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates of £1% (2021: £1%). These changes are considered to be reasonably
possible based on observation of cutrent market conditions. Positive figutes represent an increase in
profit or equity. The analysis below excludes interest capitalized and assumes that all other variables remain
constant,

Effect on Effect on
Profit for the year Equity
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
+1% -1% +1% -1%
2022 (28,882) 28,882 (28,882) 28,882
2021 (32,742) 32,742 (32,742) 32,742
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35 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

ii. Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in respect of its listed equity securities (Note 11). For the listed
equity securities, an average volatility of 33% has been observed during 2022 (2021: 44%). This volatility
figure is considered to be a suitable basis for estimating how profit or loss and equity would have been
affected by changes in market risk that wete reasonably possible at the reporting date. If the quoted stock
price for these securities increased or decteased by that amount, consolidated statements of other
comprehensive income and equity would have changed by AED 3.4 million (2021: AED 8.3 million). The
listed securities are classified as investments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause
the other party to incur a financial loss.

The Group is exposed to this risk for vatious financial instruments, for example trade receivables from
customers, placing deposits, etc. The Group's maximum exposure to credit tisk is limited to the carrying
amount of financial assets recognised at the reporting date, as summarised below:

2022 2021

AED'000 AED'000

Bank balances and deposits 4,724,596 3,871,239
Trade and other receivables 916,172 576,356
Cash flow hedge asset 373,339 273,072
Investments measured at fair value through OCI 43,166 15,556
6,057,273 4,736,223

The following policies and procedure are in place to mitigate the Group’s exposure to credit risk:

Trade and other receivables

The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to trade receivables by continuously monitoring the
terms of payments for the outstanding amounts, Trade and other receivables consist of a large number
of customers, spread actoss diverse industties and geographical ateas.

Bank balances and deposits
The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to banks by only dealing with reputable banks.

Jet fuel risk

The Group is exposed to volatility in the price of jet fuel and closely monitors the actual cost against the
forecast cost. To manage the price risk, the Group considets the use of commodity fututes, options and
swaps to achieve a level of control over higher jet fuel costs so that profitability is not adversely affected.

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity tisk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding

through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Liquidity requitements are monitoted on a
regular basis and management ensutes that sufficient funds are available to meet any futute commitments.

The Group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Group
manages liquidity risk through an on-going review of future commitments and credit facilities. Cash flow
forecasts are prepared and adequate utilisation of borrowing facilities are monitored, including the need
for additional borrowings, as requited. The Group has 30 to 90 days credit period from its vendors.
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35 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Summatised below in the table is the maturity profile of financial liabilities and net settled detivative
financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the end of reporting period to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual discounted cash flows.

Contractual cash flows

Carrying Within More than
amount 1year 1year Total
2022 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Lease liabilities 2,748,723 622,225 2,126,498 2,748,723
Trade and other payables 3,820,369 2,413,003 1,407,366 3,820,369
Bank borrowings 139,485 108,881 30,604 139,485
Total 6,708,577 3,144,109 3,564,468 6,708,577

Contractual cash flows

Carrying Within  More than
amount 1 year 1 year Total
2021 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Lease liabilities 3,236,607 652,433 2,584,174 3,236,607
Trade and other payables 3,287,820 1,937,781 1,350,039 3,287,820
Bank borrowings 37,634 37,634 - 37,634
Total 6,562,061 2,660,380 3,934,213 6,594,593

36 Fair value measurement

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position are gtouped
into three levels of fair value hierarchy. This grouping is determined based on the lowest level of significant
inputs used in fair value measurement, as follows:

® level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

® level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. detived from ptices)

® level 3: inputs for the asset or lability that are not based on observable matket data (unobservable
inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value

hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value

hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.

The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of financials assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
At December 31, 2022 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Financial asset
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income — equity instruments 10,321 - -
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income — debt instruments - - 32,845
Cash flow hedge asset - 373,339 -
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36 Fair value measurement (continued)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
At December 31, 2021
Financial asset
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 15,556 - -
Cash flow hedge asset - 273,072 -

37 Segment Reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into two major repottable segments as follows:

e  Ajrline

Includes international commercial air transportation, aircraft rental, passengers transpott, cargo services,

aviation training and aircraft repairs and maintenance.

®  Other segments

Includes travel and tourist agencies, hotels, hotel apartment rentals, aitline companies, representative

office and documents transfer services.

‘The following table presents revenue and profit information for the Group’s operating segments for the

year ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively:

Other
December 31, 2022 Airline segments Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

Revenue
External sales 4,977,259 264,571 - 5,241,830
Inter-segment sales - 64,569 (64,569) -
Total revenue 4,977,259 329,140 (64,569) 5,241,830
Result
Segment result 1,112,332 73,743 - 1,186,075
Share of profit of investments in associates

and joint ventures 36,231
Profit for the year 1,222,306
Other information
Additions to property and equipment and

deferred charges 28,836 23,425 - 52,261
Depreciation and amortisation 614,789 19,168 - 633,957
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37 Segment Reporting (continued)

Decembet 31, 2021

Revenue
External sales
Inter-segment sales

Total revenue

Result

Segment result

Share of profit of investments in associates
and jolnt ventures

Profit for the year

Other information

Additions to property and equipment and
deferred charges

Depreciation and amortisation

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

Other

Airline segments Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
2,980,124 193,998 = 3,174,122
- 18,472 (18,472) -
2,980,124 212,470 (18,472) 3,174,122
623,594 6,634 - 630,228
89,699

719,927

11,377 23,934 - 35,311
603,940 21,092 : 625,032

The following table presents assets and liabilities information for the Group’s operating segments as at
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively:

December 31, 2022
Assets

Segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets

Liabilides
Segment liabilities

December 31, 2021
Assets

Segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

Other
Airline segments  Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
9,871,184 1,224,059 (861,396) 10,233,847
4,203,216
14,437,063
7,705,924 596,900 (861,396) 7,441,428
Other
Aitline segments Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
10,063,700 703,059 (671,621) 10,095,138
3,211,189
13,306,327
7,144,385 758,595 (671,619) 7,231,361
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37 Segment Reporting (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 4. Segment result represents the profit eatned by each segment without consideting
share of profit/(loss) on equity accounted investments. Segment assets do not include fixed deposits,
investments, investment properties and investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associate. Goodwill
and intangible assets have been allocated to the Airline segment.

38 Capital management policies and procedures

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital
ratios in order to suppott its business and maximise shateholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it, in light of changes in business and
economic conditions or to respond to any financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividends payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders ot issue new
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies ot process during the years ended December 31,
2022 and December 31, 2021. Capital includes share capital, statutory reserve, general reserve, other
reserves and retained earnings, and is measured at AED’000 6,995,635 as at December 31, 2022 (2021:
AED’000 6,074,966).

39 Subsequent events

There have been no other events subsequent to the consolidated statement of financial position date that
would significantly affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements as at and for the
year ended December 31, 2022,
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